A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Appellant Space Age Fuels, Inc. ("Space Age") hereby respectfully 

seeks review by the Supreme Court of the published Court of Appeals 

decision identified in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion on December 31, 2013. A 

copy of the slip opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-11. 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Under the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution a 

state may only impose a tax on an out-of-state business if that business has 

substantial nexus with the taxing state. Substantial nexus is created when 

the out-of-state business engages iri substantial activities in the taxing state 

that are significantly associated with the company's ability to establish and 

maintain a market for sales in the state. Does delivery of product by an 

out-of-state business in its own trucks to Washington customers, standing 

alone, create substantial nexus? 

1 



D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

1. Background/Introduction. 

The relevant factual and procedural history of this case is set forth 

in the Court of Appeals decision. 1 This matter arises out ofthe State of 

Washington's ("the State") assessment of significant Business and 

Occupations ("B&O") tax, together with interest and penalties, against 

Space Age. The State assessed these taxes on sales of non-branded fuel 

sold by Space Age, an Oregon company, to wholesale customers in 

Washington. The State assessed these taxes even though Space Age does 

not own or lease any real property in Washington, CP13, does not have 

any bank accounts in Washington, CP 14, does not have any employees or 

representatives in Washington, CP 15, does not have any contracts with 

any person or entity in Washington, CP 22, does not solicit any sales from 

Washington customers, CP 376, 380, makes no effort to secure new 

1 Certain of the facts stated in the Court of Appeals' decision are 
not relevant for Commerce Clause analysis. The court remarked that 
Space Age marks up its fuel prices to account for delivery costs, thereby 
making a profit. As explained below, delivery is not an activity that is 
significantly associated with Space Age's ability to establish and maintain 
a market for sales in Washington, and delivery does not create substantia~ 
nexus. Consequently, it is legally irrelevant whether or not Space Age 
makes a profit on its deliveries. Likewise, it is irrelevant for Commerce 
Clause analysis whether the sale "occurs" in Oregon when the customer 
places its order or in Washington when the fuel is delivered. 
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customers for its fuel in Washington, CP 54, and does not provide its 

customers or any potential customers with Space Age displays, brochures, 

product samples, or similar items. CP 22. 

All of Space Age's sales to Washington customers are made over 

the telephone, at Space Age's office in Oregon. CP 54. In response to 

customer inquiries for price information, Space Age provides quotes by 

fax, telephone, or e-mail. CP 54; 380. Space Age's ability to make 

wholesale sales is driven solely by price. CP 54. 

Space Age's sole activity in Washington is delivering fuel, in its 

own trucks, to Washington customers who had already decided to 

purchase that fuel based solely on its price. Those trucks return each day 

to Oregon. 

2. The Decision of the Court of Appeals. 

On December 31, 2013, Division II of the Court of Appeals 

("Division II") issued a published opinion affirming the decision of the 

trial court. A-1 to A-11. Division II held that Space Age's deliveries alone 

were sufficient to create the requisite substantial nexus. A-6. 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

The Court is familiar with the criteria governing the acceptance of 

review of a Court of Appeals opinion. Here, the Court of Appeals 

decision satisfies three of these standards: RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3) and (4). 

1. The Court of Appeals Decision Involves a Significant 
Question of Law Under the United States Constitution 

This petition for review raises the question as to the scope of the 

State's power, under the Commerce Clause, to tax out-of-state businesses 

with limited connections to Washington. The Court of Appeals held that 

Washington may constitutionally tax an out-of-state business whose only 

activity in Washington was delivering a product to Washington customers, 

a product that the customers had already decided to purchase based solely 

on cost. In ruling that "delivery alone" is sufficient to create the requisite 

substantial nexus, Division II has expanded the limits of the State's power 

beyond what has been accepted by the United States Supreme Court and 

by this Court. Not only has Division II collapsed the minimum contacts 

analysis of the Due Process Clause with the substantial nexus analysis 

required by the Commerce Clause, it offers businesses no guidance on 

when they will subject themselves to taxation by Washington. Under 

Division II's analysis, seemingly any transaction in Washington by an out-
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of-state business will satisfY the substantial nexus required by the 

Commerce Clause. As the petition raises a significant issue of law under 

the United States Constitution, review is appropriate under RAP 

l3.4(b)(3). 

a. The Commerce Clause Prohibits Washington from Imposing a 
Tax on an Out-of-State Business that Lacks a Substantial 

Nexus with Washington 

The Commerce Clause ofthe United States Constitution, U.S. 

Canst. Art I, § 8, cl. 3, prohibits state actions that unduly burden interstate 

commerce. Quill Corp. v. North Dakota, 504 U.S. 298, 312, 112 S. Ct. 

1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992). In the area of state taxation, for a tax 

imposed against an out-of-state entity to withstand a Commerce Clause 

challenge, the tax must, inter alia, be "applied to an activity with a 

substantial nexus with the taxing State." !d. at 311, quoting Complete 

Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 

2d 326 (1977). Accord Lamtec Corp. v. Department of Revenue, 170 Wn. 

2d 838,844,246 P.3d 788,791-92, cert. denied, _U.S._, 132 S. Ct. 

95 (2011) (for a state to tax an out-of-state corporation the tax must meet 

the four-part Complete Auto test). 
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b. For Substantial Nexus to Exist the Taxpayer must Engage in 
Substantial Activities in the Taxing State that are Significantly 

Associated with the Taxpayer's Ability to Establish and Maintain 
a Market for Sales in the Taxing State 

In determining whether or not the requisite substantial nexus 

exists, "the crucial factor is whether the activities performed in [the taxing] 

state on behalf of the taxpayer are significantly associated with the 

taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a market in this state for the 

sales." Tyler Pipe Industries, Inc. v. Washington State Department of 

I 
Revenue, 483 U.S. 232,250, 107 S. Ct. 2810, 97 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1987), 

quoting Tyler Pipe Industries, Inc. v. State Department of Revenue, 105 

Wn. 2d 318,323,715 P.2d 123, 126 (1986). Tyler Pipe's reference to the 

establishment of a market for sales is absent from Division IJ's opinion. 

The court did not explain how deliveries furthered a market for sales of 

fuel by Space Age in Washington. 

Importantly, "substantial nexus" under the Commerce Clause is a 

different concept than the connection required between the taxpayer and 

the State under the Due Process Clause. The connection required by the 

Due Process Clause is simply "some minimum connection between a state, 

and the person, property or transaction it seeks to tax." Quill, 504 U.S. at 

306, 308. The "minimum contacts" required by the Due Process Clause is 
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thus a distinct, and lesser, standard than the "substantial nexus" required 

by the Commerce Clause. !d. at 3135 ("a corporation may have the 

'minimum contacts' with a taxing State as required by the Due Process 

Clause, and yet lack the 'substantial nexus' with that State as required by 

the Commerce Clause"). 

c. The Lamtec Decision 

This Court analyzed a claim that imposition of the B&O tax on an 

out-of-state taxpayer violated the Commerce Clause in Lamtec, supra. In 

that case, the taxpayer was a manufacturer of insulation and vapor barriers. 

Lamtec, 170 Wn. 2d at 840-41. The taxpayer manufactured its products in 

New Jersey, and sold them nationwide. !d. Its customers placed orders 

over the telephone. !d. at 841. The taxpayer did not have any offices or 

agents permanently in Washington. !d. at 840-41. It did, however, on two 

or three occasions per year, send three sales employees to visit major 

customers in Washington. !d. at 840. The employees made between 50 

and 70 visits to Washington customers during the seven year period at 

issue. !d. The taxpayer estimated that the total amount of time spent in 

Washington by the employees each year was seven to 11 days. Brief of 

Respondent DOR, 2008 WL 8014770, at *4. 
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The employees did not solicit sales directly during these visits. 

Lamtec, 170 Wn. 2d at 841. During these visits the employees sometimes 

left brochures and product samples with the customers. Brief of 

Respondent DOR, 2008 WL 8014770, at *4. The employees answered 

customer concerns, addressed issues relating to the use of Lamtec's 

products, and participated in telephone calls to Lamtec's technical or 

customer servicedepartments. Id. 

According to the State, the taxpayer "admitted that it was engaging 

in efforts to maintain Lamtec's market in Washington" and "Lamtec 

considered the physical, in-person visits by its sales representatives 

significant to its business model and marketing program and would not 

even consider abandoning the visits." Brief of Respondent DOR, 2008 

WL 8014770, at *5. 

On that record, this Court held that the taxpayer had the requisite 

substantial nexus to allow the State to constitutionally impose the B&O 

tax: 

[t]o the extent that there is a physical presence requirement [to 
establish substantial nexus], it can be satisfied by the presence of 
activities within the state. * * * The activities must be substantial 
and must be associated with the company's ability to establish and 
maintain the company's market within the state. The contacts by 
Lamtec's sales representatives were designed to maintain its 
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relationship with its customers and to maintain its market within 
Washington State. Nor were the activities slight or incidental to 
some other purpose or activity. We hold that Lamtec's practice of 
sending sales representatives to meet with its customers within 
Washington was significantly associated with its ability to 
establish and maintain its market. 

Lamtec, 170 Wn. 2d at 851 (emphasis added). 

d. The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Test for Determining 
Whether or Not Substantial Nexus Exists 

In its published opinion, Division II misapplied the test for 

determining whether or not substantial nexus exists. As an initial matter, 

the court twice cited Lamtec for the proposition that physical presence 

creates the requisite substantial nexus: "A company's physical presence in 

Washington can establish a substantial nexus," A-5; "[b]ut Space Age fails 

to account for Lamtec's statement that a company's physical presence can 

establish a substantial nexus." A-10. The court thus suggests that physical 

presence alone can create substantial nexus, regardless of the nature of that 

presence. But this is not what this Court said in Lamtec. Instead, the 

Court held that "to the extent there is a physical presence requirement, it 

can be satisfied by the presence of activities within the state." Lamtec, 170 

Wn. 2d at 850-51. Moreover, and most significantly, "[t]he activities must 

be substantial and must be associated the company's ability to establish 
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and maintain the company's market within the state." !d. at 851. 

Consequently, where a company's activities in the State are the basis for 

substantial nexus, those activities must be "substantial" and they must be 

"associated the company's ability to establish and maintain the company's 

market within the state." !d. at 851. 

Division II compounded the error in its analysis by treating Space 

Age's purported physical presence and Space Age's deliveries as if they 

were two different things. First, the court stated that "Space Age's regular 

deliveries establish its physical presence in Washington." A-6. Then, it 

stated that "[b]oth Space Age's physical presence in Washington and its 

delivery activities are significantly associated with its ability to establish 

and maintain a market in Washington for its sales" (emphasis added). Jd.2 

But Space Age has no "physical presence" in Washington other 

than the delivery offuel.3 Under Lamtec, for Space Age's activities in 

Washington (i.e., the delivery of fuel), to create the requisite substantial 

nexus those activities "must be substantial and must be associated with the 

2 Division II did not explain why this is so. 

3 To the extent that Division II suggests that "sticking the tank" 
and/or pumping fuel from trucks into tanks is something distinct from 
delivery, such suggestion is wrong, as those tasks are simply part of the 
delivery process. 
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company's ability to establish and maintain the company's market within 

the state." Lamtec, 170 Wn. 2d at 851. In responding to Space Age's 

argument that delivery alone is not an activity significantly associated with 

Space Age's ability to establish and maintain its market in Washington, the 

court fell back on the conclusion that "Space Age fails to account for 

Lamtec's statement that a company's physical presence can establish a 

substantial nexus." A-10. Division II thus confused the mere fact that 

Space Age employees delivered fuel in Washington with the critical 

inquiry of whether those deliveries were significantly associated with 

Space Age's ability to establish and maintain its market in Washington.4 

The court was wrong to suggest that simply because Space Age makes 

deliveries in Washington, it has a physical presence in Washington, 

thereby necessarily creating substantial nexus. 

4 In this regard, the Court of Appeals has essentially conflated the 
Commerce Clause with the Due Process Clause. As noted above, unlike 
the Commerce Clause, which requires substantial nexus, the Commerce 
Clause requires only "minimum contacts" between the taxpayer and the 
taxing state, and "substantial nexus" is more than "minimum contacts." 
Quill, supra, 504 U.S. at 313. The fact that Space Age employees 
delivered fuel in Washington is sufficient to establish "minimum contacts" 
under the Due Process Clause, but is insufficient to establish "substantial 
nexus" under the Commerce Clause. 

11 



On the "crucial factor" of whether Space Age's activities in 

Washington were substantial and significantly associated with Space Age's 

ability to establish and maintain a market in Washington, Division II made 

only the conclusory statements that "[b]oth Space Age's physical presence 

in Washington and its delivery activities are significantly associated with 

its ability to establish and maintain a market in Washington for its sales," 

and "Space Age ignores the extent to which its deliveries make possible 

'the realization and continuance' of sales to its customers." A-10, quoting 

Standard Pressed Steel Co. v. Washington Department of Revenue, 419 

U.S. 560, 562, 95 S. Ct. 706,42 L. Ed. 2d 719 (1975). 

The court did not, however, offer any basis for those two 

conclusory statements, leaving Space Age, and other similarly-situated 

entities, to guess at why deliveries meet this test, and what other activities 

may or may not meet this test. United States Supreme Court precedent, as 

well as a decision from Washington's Board of Tax Appeals,5 recognize 

that delivery alone is not a nexus-creating event. In Quill the out-of-state 

taxpayer was a mail order company that had no outlets or sales 

5 Washington courts recognize the Board's special expertise on tax 
issues. See Lamtec, 170 Wn. 2d at 846; Seattle Filmworks, Inc. v. State of 
Washington Department of Revenue, 106 Wn. App. 448, 459, 24 P.3d 460 
(2001). 
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representatives in North Dakota. It solicited business through catalogs and 

flyers, advertisements in national magazines, and telephone calls. It made 

annual sales of over $1 million to more than 3,000 customers in North 

Dakota. The merchandise was delivered by common carrier or through the 

United States mail. The Court held that while North Dakota's attempt to 

impose the tax in question on Quill passed muster under the Due Process 

Clause, it failed to pass muster under the Commerce Clause. The fact that 

products were shipped into North Dakota was not sufficient to create 

substantial nexus. 

In Sage V Foods, LLC v. State of Washington Department of 

Revenue, 2012 WL 4794242 (Wa. Bd. Tax App. 2012), Sage was a 

California company. It sold rice flour and other rice-based products to 

approximately 20 Washington customers. These sales ranged from $1.8 

million to $4.6 million per year. Most of the products were delivered to 

the customers in "PD" railcars that Sage leased. The DOR argued, as it 

does here, that the regular deliveries of Sage's products into Washington 

created substantial nexus. Applying the Tyler Pipe standard, the Board of 

Tax Appeals disagreed with DOR, declining to "equate the mere 

continuing delivery of [Sage's] product in the desired condition using the 
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new PD cars with 'substantial activities' in furtherance of the establishment 

and maintenance ofthe company's market within the state." !d. at *7. The 

Board noted that the delivery activity "could have just as easily been 

accomplished* * *by having the customer itself lease the PD cars." !d. 

The Board also found it noteworthy that Sage's "market was established 

prior to any contact or delivery of product." !d. The Board thus concluded 

that "Sage's use of leased rail cars for delivery was not 'significantly 

associated with [Sage's] ability to establish and maintain a marketin this 

state for the sales," and that "the nexus necessary to support the imposition 

on Sage of the B&O wholesaling tax and litter tax has not been 

established." !d. at 9. 

Sage is consistent with Tyler Pipe, Standard Pressed Steel, and 

Lamtec, all of which found substantial nexus based on contacts by the 

taxpayer's employees or representatives that were designed to ensure that 

customers would purchase, and continue to purchase, products from the 

taxpayer. In Tyler Pipe the individual whose activity created substantial 

nexus was an "in-state sales representative"; in Standard Pressed Steel the 

individual was an employee "whose primary duty was to consult with 

Boeing regarding its anticipated needs and requirements" for the taxpayer's 

14 



products; in Lamtec the individuals were employee "sales representatives." 

Space Age submits, as it argued before Division II, that activities 

"significantly associated witb [its] ability to establish and maintain a 

market" in Washington for sales means activities designed to generate 

initial and future sales of products, and not simply delivery of a product 

that the customer has already decided to purchase for reasons unrelated to 

Space Age's activities in the taxing state, in this case price. 

While Division II rejected Space Age's argument, it offered no 

explanation for why it was doing so, and it offered no defining test for 

determining when an activity is "significantly associated with the 

taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a market in this state for sales." 

The Court of Appeals decision means that there is no principled limitation 

on substantial nexus under the Commerce Clause. The decision thus 

involves a significant issue under the United States Constitution, and 

review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

2. The Court of Appeals Decision Involves an Issue of 
Substantial Public Interest 

The constitutional issue raised by Space Age's petition for review 

is not merely academic. The question of the extent of the state's taxing 

power under the Commerce Clause is an issue of substantial public interest 
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because it has a very real impact on decisions made by real world 

businesses operating in the national economy. 6 Whether or not a particular 

transaction is subject to taxation is a significant factor that a business must 

consider in determining whether or not to enter into that transaction in the 

first place. This issue is particularly significant for many e-commerce and 

border businesses in Oregon and Idaho. Illustrative is the Oregon mattress 

company that was forced out of business when it unwittingly became 

subject to Washington's B&O tax when it arranged for delivery of 

mattresses from its Portland metropolitan stores to customers in Clark

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