RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 28, 2014, 10:36 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 89849-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPACE AGE FUELS, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Charles Zalesky, WSBA No. 37777 Assistant Attorney General David M. Hankins, WSBA No. 19194 Senior Counsel Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 PO Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528



#

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

## V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Space Age's petition should be denied. The Court of Appeals correctly applied well-established law in holding that Space Age has substantial nexus with Washington. In addition, the court's decision is consistent with this Court's decisions in *Lamtec* and other cases, and does not raise an issue of substantial public importance. In short, nothing in the Court of Appeals decision warrants further review by this Court.

# A. This Appeal Does Not Present A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law.

During the period at issue, Space Age had employees and fuel delivery trucks physically present within Washington on a daily basis making sales and deliveries of motor fuel and special fuel to Washington

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pursuant to RAP 4.2, Space Age petitioned for direct review to this Court, docket number 86972-3. On October 30, 2012, the Court denied direct review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeals.

customers. Space Age had licenses allowing it to act as a fuel distributor in Washington, and its in-state activities helped Space Age carve out a \$13.7 million per year slice of the Washington wholesale market. The Court of Appeals applied well-established law to these undisputed facts and correctly concluded that Space Age had sufficient in-state business activity to meet the dormant Commerce Clause "nexus" requirement.

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution gives
Congress the power to "regulate Commerce . . . among the several States."
U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3. The United States Supreme Court has
consistently interpreted this express grant of authority as also imposing
certain limits on the power of the states to tax interstate commerce even in
the absence of congressional action. Under current dormant Commerce
Clause jurisprudence, a state tax on interstate commerce is valid if it: (1) is
applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing state; (2) is
fairly apportioned; (3) does not discriminate against interstate commerce;
and (4) is fairly related to the services provided by the State. *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed.
2d 326 (1977); *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 311, 112 S. Ct.
1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992).

Space Age challenges the first prong of the four-part "Complete Auto" test as applied to its wholesale sales of motor fuel and special fuel to Washington customers. 6 That prong ("substantial nexus") has two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Washington courts have previously addressed the second and third prongs of the *Complete Auto* test with respect to the Washington B&O tax on retail or wholesale

important components. See generally John A. Swain, State Income Tax Jurisdiction: A Jurisprudential and Policy Perspective, 45 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 319, 328-29 (2003-04) (explaining the two meanings of the term "nexus" for purposes of state taxation). First, it limits the taxing power of the states to transactions, activities, or property connected with the state. Id. This component (often referred to as "transactional nexus") is not at issue in this case because all of the wholesale sales made by Space Age that are at issue in this case occurred within Washington. There is simply no dispute that Washington had sufficient "transactional nexus" to tax wholesale sales occurring within its borders.

The second important component of "substantial nexus" is the connection between the state and the taxpayer that owes the tax, or who is being asked to collect and remit the tax. *Id.* This component (often referred to as "entity nexus") is contested by Space Age and was the focus of the Court of Appeals' decision.

# 1. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Space Age had substantial nexus with Washington.

The concept of nexus with the taxpayer under the dormant Commerce Clause is best understood as "a means for limiting state burdens on interstate commerce." *Quill*, 504 U.S. at 313. States are not permitted to unduly burden interstate commerce by taxing a person that lacks sufficient nexus with the taxing state. However, "[i]t is not the

sales, upholding the tax as non-discriminatory and inherently apportioned. E.g., W.R. Grace & Co. v. Dep't of Revenue, 137 Wn.2d 580, 596-97, 973 P.2d 1011, cert. denied, 528 U.S. 950 (1999).

purpose of the Commerce Clause to relieve those engaged in interstate commerce from their just share of [the] state tax burden even though it increases the cost of doing the business." *General Motors Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn. App. 42, 50, 25 P.3d 1022 (2001) (internal quotes and citations omitted), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1014 (2001), *cert. denied*, 535 U.S. 1056 (2002). *See also Dep't of Revenue v. Ass'n of Wash. Stevedoring Cos.*, 435 U.S. 734, 748, 98 S. Ct. 1388, 55 L. Ed. 2d 682 (1978) ("The Commerce Clause balance tips against the [state] tax only when it unfairly burdens commerce by exacting more than a just share from the interstate activity.").

This case involves application of the well-established nexus standard established by *Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 105 Wn.2d 318, 715 P.2d 123 (1986), *reversed on other grounds*, 483 U.S. 232, 250 (1987). The *Tyler Pipe* Court held that "the crucial factor governing nexus is whether the activities performed in this state on behalf of the taxpayer are significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to establish and maintain a market in this state for the sales." *Id.* at 323. There can be no serious dispute that Space Age had sufficient nexus with Washington to satisfy the *Tyler Pipe* standard. Space Age established a significant business presence in Washington by obtaining Washington motor fuel and special fuel supplier licenses and making regular visits into Washington to sell and deliver fuel to its Washington customers. Space Age regularly used Washington roads and benefited financially from the motor fuel and special fuel market that Washington established. These

activities are substantial and enabled Space Age to compete for business with other fuel suppliers. And because Space Age delivered fuel within Washington, its customers did not have to engage in (or arrange for) the transportation or delivery of these hazardous substances themselves. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, these significant in-state commercial activities helped Space Age establish and maintain its market. See Space Age Fuels, 315 P.3d at 607-08.

Space Age, however, argues that the Court of Appeals "did not . . . offer any basis" to support its conclusion that in-state delivery and sales activities were substantial and significantly associated with its ability to establish and maintain its Washington market. Petition for Review at 12. This is incorrect. The Court of Appeals noted that Space Age admitted in discovery that delivery of fuel was "another profit center" for the business in addition to the sale of the commodity. Id. at 606 (citing CP 297). In addition, "Space Age charges more to make deliveries at longer distances, and it also charges more to pump fuel into aboveground tanks when necessary." Id. at 608. Finally, the court noted that "Space Age's vehicles drove extensively on Washington roads while delivering over \$48 million of fuel to Washington customers." Id. at 607. These undisputed facts showed that Space Age's delivery of fuel to its Washington customers was a significant reason why Space Age was able to establish and maintain sales averaging \$13.7 million per year in Washington. Conversely, it defies reason to suggest that Space Age could have

established or maintained its share of the Washington market if it had not regularly delivered fuel to customers at the customers' locations.

As the Court of Appeals noted, the Washington B&O tax on Space Age's in-state sales is presumed to be constitutional, and Space Age had the burden "of showing that a substantial nexus does not exist." *Id.* at 607 (citing *Lamtec*, 170 Wn.2d at 843). In light of the substantial activities that Space Age conducted in Washington, the petition presents no significant question of law to support Space Age's claim that the Washington tax violates the dormant Commerce Clause. Thus, its refund claim was correctly denied by the Department, by the trial court, and by the Court of Appeals.

# 2. Regular delivery of goods is the type of in-state activity that can establish substantial nexus.

Space Age argued to the Court of Appeals that its numerous activities in Washington are the wrong "type" of presence or activities to satisfy *Tyler Pipe*. According to Space Age, substantial nexus can exist only by virtue of in-state activities "designed to generate an original or subsequent sales." Br. of App. at 20-21. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Space Age's narrow view of state taxing powers under the dormant Commerce Clause. *Space Age Fuels*, 315 P.3d at 608-09. Instead, the court applied the *Tyler Pipe* standard pragmatically, concluding that "generating sales is not the touchstone of all nexuscreating activity" and that substantial nexus exists when, as here, a company's extensive in-state delivery activities "make possible 'the

realization and continuance' of sales to its customers." *Id.* at 609 (quoting *Standard Pressed Steel Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 419 U.S. 560, 562, 95 S. Ct. 706, 42 L. Ed. 2d 719 (1975)).

The Court of Appeal's analysis presents no conflict with decisions of this Court such as *Lamtec*, decisions of the United States Supreme Court such as *Standard Pressed Steel*, and numerous decisions of other courts. These authorities all agree that in-state solicitation or acceptance of individual orders for goods is not required for an out-of-state seller to have nexus with the taxing state, and a state's power to tax an out-of-state business is not dependent on whether the nexus creating contacts occur before or after a sale of goods is completed.<sup>7</sup>

In Lamtec, this Court upheld the assessment of wholesaling B&O tax on an out-of-state seller that did not engage in any direct selling activity within Washington. Lamtec was a New Jersey company that manufactured vapor barriers and insulation facing, which it sold to Washington customers. Customers placed orders by phone to New Jersey

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., General Motors Corp., 107 Wn. App. at 52 (substantial nexus has never turned on direct selling activity occurring within the taxing jurisdiction); Dell Catalog Sales L.P. v. N.M. Taxation & Revenue Dep't, 145 N.M. 419, 199 P.3d 863 (N.M. App.), rev. denied, 189 P.3d 1215 (N.M. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 1616 (2009) (post-sale warranty services performed on behalf of out-of-state vendor were sufficient to establish substantial nexus between the vendor and New Mexico); Brown's Furniture, Inc. v. Wagner, 171 Ill.2d 410, 665 N.E.2d 795, cert. denied, 519 U.S. 866 (1996) (regular deliveries by an out-of-state furniture retailer to customers within Illinois were sufficient to establish substantial nexus); John Swenson Granite, Inc. v. State Tax Assessor, 685 A.2d 425, 429 (Me. 1996) (180 deliveries per year in the taxpayer's own trucks helped create nexus); Falcone v. Taxation Div. Director, 12 N.J. Tax 75 (N.J. Tax 1991) (delivery of goods by an out-of-state seller in its own trucks was sufficient to establish nexus); Rowe-Genereux, Inc. v. Vermont Dep't of Taxes, 138 Vt. 130, 139, 411 A.2d 1345 (1980) (delivery of goods by an out-of-state business in its company owned trucks helped create nexus).

and the products were shipped to Washington by common carrier. In upholding the state's power to tax Lamtec's Washington sales, this Court explained that an established sales force in the state, while *sufficient* to create nexus under the dormant Commerce Clause, is not *required* to create nexus. *Lamtec*, 170 Wn.2d at 845. Likewise, the regular in-state solicitation of sales by an out-of-state seller, while *sufficient* to establish nexus, is not *required*. *Id*. at 846. Furthermore, an out-of-state seller's periodic in-state visits do not have to involve sales activity. Instead, the key inquiry is whether the in-state activities were substantial (more than de minimis) and "associated with the company's ability to establish and maintain the company's market within the state." *Id*. at 851.

Similarly, in *Standard Pressed Steel*, the United States Supreme Court held that Washington could tax an out-of-state manufacturer on sales it made to a Washington customer where the manufacturer employed one person who resided and worked in Washington. 419 U.S. at 561, 564. The single employee did not solicit sales nor receive orders. *Id.* at 561. Rather, his "primary duty was to consult with [the purchaser] regarding its anticipated needs and requirements for aerospace fasteners and to follow up any difficulties in the use of [the out-of-state manufacturer's] product after delivery." *Id.* Additional employees of the manufacturer visited Washington on occasion to assist in these tasks. *Id.* The U.S. Supreme Court explained that the tax was constitutional despite the fact that these employees did not solicit sales and did not receive orders for the sale of goods. *Id.* 

In contrast to these cases that reject the "sales activity" distinction offered by Space Age, no relevant authority supports Space Age's claim that regular in-state delivery of goods by an out-of-state seller is insufficient to establish nexus for purposes of taxation. Instead, Space Age relies on two cases where a seller shipped goods from outside the state using a common carrier. Petition for Review at 12-14 (discussing *Quill* and *Sage V Foods, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 2012 WL 4794242 (Wash. Bd. Tax Appeals 2012)). Neither case involved *delivery* of the goods by the seller using the seller's own employees and trucks. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that these two cases were "unavailing to Space Age because it delivered fuel in its own vehicles, not by common carrier." *Space Age Fuels*, 315 P.3d at 610.

In short, the Court of Appeals applied well-established law in concluding that the dormant Commerce Clause did not bar application of the Washington B&O tax to sales Space Age made in Washington using its own employees and its own equipment. Accordingly, this case does not involve a significant question of constitutional law, and discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) is not warranted.

# B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With This Court's Decision In Lamtec.

Space Age also argues that this Court should accept review of this case to correct a supposed conflict with the Court's decision in *Lamtec*. Petition for Review at 17. But there is no conflict. As discussed above, the activities that established nexus in *Lamtec* were much less frequent

than the activities performed by Space Age. While Lamtec sent employees into Washington several times per year to meet with customers, Space Age employees and vehicles were present in Washington on a daily basis making sales and delivering fuel to Washington customers.

Moreover, the Lamtec employees were not directly involved in any selling activities, while the Space Age employees were physically making sales of motor fuel and special fuel within the state by transferring possession of the fuel from the Space Age truck to the customer's tank. See RCW 82.04.040(1) (defining "sale" to include "any transfer of the ownership of, title to, or possession of property for a valuable consideration") (emphasis added). Thus, the in-state activities performed by Space Age were both quantitatively and qualitatively more significant than the in-state activities performed by Lamtec.

The purported conflict with *Lamtec* is non-existent. The *Lamtec* decision does not rely on a distinction between sales activities and other types of in-state commercial activities, which is the foundation for Space Age's misreading of *Lamtec*. Nor does any other case suggest that such a distinction affects whether there is a constitutionally sufficient nexus between the taxpayer and the taxing state. Consequently, discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not warranted.

# C. This Appeal Does Not Present An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance That Requires Further Review By This Court.

Given the undisputed evidence establishing that Space Age was present within Washington on a daily basis competing against other

licensed motor fuel and special fuel distributors for a share of the Washington wholesale market, this case presents no issue of substantial public importance requiring review by this Court. Space Age argues that review should be granted so that this Court can "offer definitive principles by which businesses and the [Department] can be guided to assess if activities that touch upon Washington may constitutionally be taxed." Petition for Review at 17. Definitive principles already exist. Cases such as *Standard Pressed Steel*, *Complete Auto Transit*, *Tyler Pipe*, *Quill*, and *Lamtec* discuss the Commerce Clause nexus requirement both generally and as applied to the specific facts of those cases.

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